I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The Petitioners are Steven and Mary Lou Love and Steve's Outboard Service 

(SOS). 

II. CITATION OF COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Petitioners seek review of an unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals, 

Division II, entered January 28, 2014. That decision is attached as Appendix I. The 

Court of Appeals denied the plaintiffs' motion to Clarify, Modify, or Reconsider by order 

entered March 4, 2014. That order is attached as Appendix II. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether the Supreme Court should accept review of a decision of the Court of 

Appeals that is directly contradictory to existing case law from both the Supreme Court 

and the Court of Appeals and existing statutes enacted by the Legislature and greatly 

extends a cause of action for nuisance per se under a theory of strict liability when a 

defendant violates in any manner any statute or ordinance? 

2. Whether laches bars this action or whether the Land Use Petition Act (LUPA) 

required that the plaintiffs file an appeal of a County land use decision to allow the Loves 

to continue to operate their outboard motor maintenance and repair business within 21 

days ofthe decision, where SOS had been operating in the same building since 1994, the 

complaint against SOS and County decision was filed in 2003, and this case was filed in 

2006? 

3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred when it reduced the attorneys fee award 

$2,000 through error of the parties in not completely designating the record for review, 

and also erred when it denied attorney's fees on appeal because the plaintiffs did not 
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appeal under the Shorelines Management Act (SMA), but their SMA claim was 

inextricably intertwined with their claim of nuisance per se? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Hal and Melanie Moore and Lester and Betty Krueger sued Steven and Mary Lou 

Love and Steve's Outboard Service (SOS) for damages and injunctive relief under 

various theories of nuisance including nuisance per se for not having a permit under the 

Shorelines Management Act (SMA) and various ordinances and permits. The case was 

tried before the Honorable Toni A. Sheldon in the Mason County Superior Court, and 

judgment was rendered for the defendants, Steve and Mary Lou Love and Steve's 

Outboard Service on all claims. The Moores and Kruegers appealed to Division II of the 

Court of Appeals. 

The Court of Appeals largely upheld the trial court's decisions, but reversed its 

decision on the theory of nuisance per se and ordered that the case be remanded to the 

superior court for a new trial on the claim of nuisance per se, despite also finding that the 

trial court was correct in denying the Plaintiffs' motion to admit additional evidence 

which they had neglected to present at trial. The Court of Appeals essentially ruled that 

nuisance per se is strict liability, such that a defendant's violation of any statute or 

ordinance would necessitate a ruling in favor of the plaintiffs, assuming that the plaintiffs 

established that they were damaged in any way, without any objectivity or reasonableness 

standard to judge such damage. (COA decision, p. 18-23). 

Steve Love runs a one-man outboard motor repair shop from his home in Mason 

County across the highway from Hood Canal. He has steadily decreased the number of 

customers he will take on over the years. His operation is clean, quiet, and 
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environmentally conscious. The Moores and the Kruegers live across the highway from 

the Love's home. The Moores and Kruegers complained of noise, fumes, and potential 

traffic safety concerns, but the trial court was not persuaded that they suffered any 

objective injury that a reasonable person would find offensive, (COA decision, p. 2-8), 

specifically finding that Ms. Moore's testimony was not credible. (COA decision, page 

3). The substantive facts are set forth fully in the Love's briefs filed in the Court of 

Appeals and in the Court of Appeal's unpublished decision, which is incorporated herein 

and attached as Exhibit I. 

V.ARGUMENT 

Assume a homeowner builds a small shed in his backyard without a required 

building permit. Could a person residing across town sue for nuisance simply because of 

the permit violation? How about a next door neighbor? Would strict liability under 

nuisance per se attach for a neighbor who double parks her car? The answer is obviously 

no; there must be some sufficient injury to the plaintiff based upon the defendant's acts 

that establishes nuisa.'lce. Mere violation of permit requirements cannot be the 

proximate cause of injuries; there yet must be something that injures the plaintiff. Tiegs 

v. Watts, 135 Wn.2d 1, 15,954 P.2d 877 (1998). Moreover, the Legislature has 

determined which violations of law will support a claim for nuisance by defining the 

term nuisance. 

A nuisance per se is a thing that is a nuisance under all times and conditions. A 

violation of a statute cannot constitute nuisance per se unless there is persuasive proof 

that the plaintiffs suffered interference with the comfortable enjoyment of life or 

property, based on an objective standard. Motor Car Dealers Assoc. of Seattle v. Fred S. 
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Haines Co., 128 Wash. 267,273-74,222 P. 611 (1924) (Car dealer open on Sunday in 

violation of statute not a nuisance per se, because not acts that constitute a nuisance at all 

times and conditions). Even though the car dealers that obeyed the Sunday closure law 

undoubtedly lost business to the disobedient dealer, and thereby suffered injury, it was not 

injury of the type for which the law provides a remedy. 

In other words, a nuisance per se is an act, thing, omission, or use of property 

which of itself is a nuisance, and hence is not permissible or excusable under any 

circumstance. Tiegs v. Watts, at 13. In other words, a violation of a statute or ordinance, 

by itself, cannot prove nuisance; it cannot be nuisance per se by strict liability. The 

prohibited acts must be nuisance in and of themselves in order for nuisance per se to 

apply. None of Mr. Love's acts constituted nuisance as defined by case law and statute. 

Here, the trial court was not persuaded that the Moores and Kruegers suffered any 

particular injury, and that is fatal to all their causes of action. The Court of Appeals 

misconstrued the holding of Tiegs v. Boise Cascade Corp., 83 Wn. App. 411, 922 P.2d 

126 ( 1996), as holding that any failure to comply with the law renders a defendant strictly 

liable for nuisance per se. 

In Tiegs v. Boise Cascade, the plaintiffs suffered significant, objective injury that 

would offend persons of reasonable sensibilities. The defendants' actions had poisoned 

the plaintiff farmers' water wells, causing crop damage. Tiegs v. Boise Cascade, 83 Wn. 

App. at 413-15. Water well pollution is considered nuisance at all times and places; it is 

not permissible or excusable under any circumstances. Miotke v. City ofSpokane, 101 

Wn.2d 307, 309, 678 P.2d 803 (1984), abrogated on other grounds, Blue Sky Advocates v. 

State, 107 Wash.2d 112, 727 P.2d 644 (1986). 
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The Court of Appeals missed part of the Tiegs reasoning: "Although a rather 

wide range of landowner activity could conceivably be declared illegal and thus 

considered nuisances as a matter of law because forbidden by law, in fact only a few 

distinct categories of such conduct have emerged from the cases ....... Other conduct that 

may be illegal and cause a private nuisance would be activities that create pollution. " 

Tiegs v. Boise Cascade, at 418 (emphasis in opinion). Activities that violate a statute or 

ordinance without creating pollution or causing some other significant interference with 

private property do not cause strict liability. There is no case in this state that holds that a 

defendant is strictly liable simply for violating a statute or ordinance. There must also be 

an act defined as a nuisance. Nowhere does our law define any law violation as nuisance; 

in so ruling, the Court of Appeals committed clear error and contradicts our entire 

existing body of case law on nuisance. 

The Court of Appeals decision cites the Tiegs case for the proposition that "the 

issue of the reasonableness of the defendant's conduct and the weighing of the relative 

interests of the plaintiff and defendant is precluded because the Legislature has, in effect, 

already struck the balance in favor ofthe innocent party." Court of Appeals decision, 

page 21, citing Tiegs v. Boise Cascade Corp., 83 Wn. App. 411,418,922 P.2d 115 

(1996) (quoting Branch v. W Petroleum, Inc., 657 P.2d 267, 276 (Utah 1982)). 

But, the Utah case, Branch, was in fact a pollution case; the defendant's actions 

were a nuisance as defined by law. Here, none of Steve Love's acts constitute a 

nmsance. 

In Branch, the plaintiff property owners claimed that the defendant oil company's 

practices had caused the plaintiffs water wells to be poisoned by chemical pollution. It 
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was not an example of a statutory or ordinance violation that caused no actual, objective 

damage to the plaintiff. The Branch court noted that a number of courts had previously 

determined that the pollution of underground water constituted nuisance. Branch, at 276. 

But, the case at bar is not a case involving water pollution or any other type of pollution, 

nor does it involve any type of nuisance under existing law. 

According to the Branch court, "Defendant's violation of§ 73-14-5 (See § 26-11-

8 for corresponding current provision) and§ 76-10-801 removed the issue ofthe 

reasonableness of its conduct compared with the nature of the injury inflicted from 

consideration in this case." Branch, at 276. But, that is because water pollution was 

already defined as nuisance. The first two statutory sections cited by Branch were 

repealed; the second, 76-10-801, provides that: "A nuisance is any item, thing, manner, 

condition whatsoever that is dangerous to human life or health or renders soil, air, water, 

or food impure or unwholesome." Thus, the Utah Legislature had determined that water 

pollution was nuisance per se, by statute; a thing that is a nuisance at all times and places. 

In the case at bar, there is no such legislative pronouncement of nuisance per se to 

which strict liability can attach. Washington defines actionable nuisance in similar terms 

to the Utah statute at RCW 7.48.010 and 7.48.120. Neither of those statutes prohibits 

anything that Steve Love or SOS did in repairing and maintaining outboard boat motors. 

In other words, Steve Love's acts are not statutorily defined as nuisance. For strict 

liability under a nuisance per se theory to apply, the acts proved must be nuisances in and 

of themselves; they cannot simply be in violation of any statute or ordinance. 

Analogize nuisance per se and strict liability to strict liability under negligence 

per se. Under RCW 5.40.050, a violation of a statute, ordinance, or administrative rule 
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cannot prove negligence per se by itself, except for those areas specifically set out in the 

statute. Similarly, our Legislature has defined nuisance by statute, and our Courts have 

further defined nuisance by case law. No statute or case upholds a theory of strict 

liability under a theory of nuisance per se for violation of a statute, ordinance or rule by 

itself, except for those acts already defined as nuisance by statute or case law. 

The Court of Appeals committed other errors of lesser importance to existing law, 

but yet of high importance to the Petitioners. The case was filed in the trial court in 

2006; we are now about eight years into the case. The plaintiffs had all the time they 

needed to prepare and present their case; yet they neglected to present certain evidence 

regarding the county's records from the building department. After the trial court ruled 

against the plaintiffs, they moved to re-open the case to submit new evidence; the trial 

court denied that motion and the Court of Appeals properly upheld the trial court's 

denial. However, the Court of Appeals then ordered that the plaintiffs should get a new 

trial on the issue of nuisance per se. (COA decision, p. 23). As shown above, that ruling 

was error. 

As upheld by the Court of Appeals, the trial court properly found that the 

plaintiffs did not prove nuisance in fact. (COA decision, p. 15). Without nuisance in 

fact, the only theory that could support a decision for the plaintiffs is nuisance per se; but 

as shown above, the defendants' acts must still constitute nuisance, either nuisance in fact 

by case law or by statutory definition. As noted by the Court of Appeals, a nuisance in 

fact exists if one owner's use ofland unreasonably interferes with another's use and 

enjoyment of the other's land. But, the Court of Appeals is wrong when it states that a 
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reasonable use of land can be nuisance per se if a statute or ordinance is violated by the 

use of land. Our law does not support that result. 

In a footnote on page 18, the Court of Appeals suggests that operating a business 

without a Shorelines Management Act permit could be nuisance. However, no permit is 

needed to operate a business. The SMA requires permits for substantial development, 

RCW 90.58.140, which in this case would be the Love's replacement of their existing 

carport in 1994, twelve years before this lawsuit was filed. In 2003, a complaint was 

made to Mason County; the County determined that there was no violation. (COA 

decision, p. 4-5). Yet, the Court of Appeals held that LUP A does not provide a limitation 

for challenges to the County's decision because the County's decision was not a land use 

decision "because Mason County was not determining whether SOS could legally 

continue to operate on the Love's property without further permits. Rather, it was 

summarily dismissing a complaint for lack of evidence." (COA decision, p. 20). But, the 

County documents clearly stated that the County did determine that SOS could continue 

to operate on the Love's property as is. (COA decision, p. 5). 

Failure to appeal a decision to issue a building permit under the Land Use Petition 

Act (LUP A) within twenty-one days of the issuance of the building permit bars a later 

nuisance suit based on the permit decision. Asche v. Bloomquist~ 132 Wn. App. 784, 788, 

13 3 P .3d 4 7 5 (2006). The SMA also contains a 21 day deadline to appeal a decision to 

issue or deny a permit. RCW 90.58.180. The evidence shows that the County 

determined that the Loves did not need any shorelines permits, neither a substantial 

development permit nor a conditional use permit. This decision is entirely supportable under 

the law, as demonstrated in the Love's briefto the Court of Appeals. The Court of 
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Appeals decision does not address the Love's position that SOS did not need any permit 

under the SMA. The Loves stand by that position, as it is fully supported by law and the 

evidence produced at trial. The Loves did not need a substantial development permit, 

because no evidence was produced that proved that the carport replacement was a 

"substantial development", nor did they need a conditional use permit because the 

business conducted from the carport qualifies as a "Home Occupation" under the County 

Code. (Brief of Respondent's on Appeal to the Court of Appeals, p. 25-29). 

The Loves replaced their carport in 1994 and Steve Love carried on his business 

there ever since. No complaint was made until the plaintiffs complained to the County in 

2003; this case was tiled in 2006. At the very least, the Moores and Kruegers should be 

barred by laches. "A plain reading ofthe language ofLUPA leads to a conclusion that it 

applies to both ministerial and quasi-judicial land use decisions." Chelan County v. 

Nykreim, 146 Wash.2d 904, 52 P.3d 1 (2002) ("The language in LUPA is clear: A 

petition for judicial review of a land use decision is barred unless timely filed within 21 

days of issuance of the decision. This declaratory judgment action was filed ... 14 

months after Petitioners' BLA application was approved . . . Dismissal of this action is 

consistent with the express purpose ofLUPA, ... "). 

Finally, the Court of Appeals erred when it held that the trial court erred in 

awarding attorney's fees incurred in defending the Loves in a criminal case that was 

dismissed, (COA decision. p. 27), and, the Court of Appeals erred when it ruled that the 

Loves were not entitled to attorney's fees on appeal because "the Moores did not appeal 

the SMA issue." (COA decision, p. 29). The plaintiffs' Notice of Appeal to the Court of 

Appeals is general in nature; it serves notice that the Moores and Kruegers were 

appealing the entire decision of the trial court. 
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First, the trial court did not award the Loves' attorney fees for defending the 

criminal case, but this error was the fault of the parties rather than the Court of Appeals 

because the record is not clear on this issue. The Loves started with the firm of 

Eisenhower and Carlson; that firm was succeeded in this case by Bruce Finlay, Attorney 

at Law. Mr. Finlay defended the criminal action in Mason County District Court; his 

Supplemental Declaration of Bruce Finlay re: Attorney's Fees, p. 2, makes clear that the 

entire amount awarded for Mr. Finlay's work, $16,812.50, (RP 15-17) was solely for this 

civil action and did not include the criminal case, as follows: "Every hour shown above 

was spent solely on this case and not on the fish and wildlife complaint; that time is 

additional to the above totals." (RP Ill). The Loves may be responsible for creating this 

misunderstanding by their mention of the fish and wildlife case in their Brief of 

Respondents on Appeal at page 48-49. In any event, the trial court did not award the 

Loves that amount and it should not be deducted from the attorneys fee award. Upon 

preparation ofthis Petition for Review, it was discovered that the Supplemental 

Designation of Bruce Finlay re Attorneys Fees, RP Ill, was not designated as part of the 

record either by the party appealing this issue, the Moores and Kruegers, or by the Loves. 

The Loves have filed in the Court of Appeals a Respondents' Motion to Amend Record to 

Include Second Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers, in an attempt to complete 

the record. This is not the most important issue on appeal, but the Loves would request 

that it be heard if the Court is willing to do so. 

Finally, the Shorelines Management Act was at issue throughout this case. The 

plaintiffs argued both a violation of the SMA and nuisance per se by a violation ofthe 

SMA. The trial court properly found that it was impossible to separate out time spent on 

a direct SMA violation from a nuisance per se claim due to an SMA violation. The 
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Moores and Kruegers argued both on appeal and continue their nuisance per se by SMA 

violation to date. Whether the SMA violation is direct or by way of nuisance per se, the 

SMA provides authority to the prevailing party for attorney's fees. As shown, the Loves 

prevailed at trial and should prevail on appeal. Attorney's fees on appeal should be 

awarded. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

The Moores and Kruegers did not persuade the trial court that they suffered any 

significant injury, or injury that would be objectionable to a person of reasonable 

sensibilities. Even if the Loves' one-man boat motor repair and maintenance business did 

violate the SMA, the Moores and Kruegers cannot prevail unless they persuaded the trial 

court that Steve Love's acts constituted nuisance. Nuisance per se requires both injury 

that a person of reasonable sensibilities would find objectively unreasonable, and an 

actual nuisance; an act or thing that is a nuisance at all times and places. The law of this 

State does not support the argument that nuisance per se with strict liability flows from a 

violation of any statute or ordinance. The Moores and Kruegers did not prove that Mr. 

Love had committed a nuisance of any kind. The trial court's decision should be 

reinstated in full. 

This Court should accept review. 
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No. 44377-5-II 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

WORSWICK, C.J.- In this consolidated appeal, Hal and Melanie Moore and Lester and 

Betty Krueger (collectively, the Moores) appeal two trial court orders that (1) dismissed their 

claims against Steven and Mary Lou Love and Steve's Outboard Service (SOS), (2) awarded 

attorney fees to the Loves, and (3) refused to consider additional evidence after we remanded the 

Moores' first appeal to the trial court to enter more complete findings of fact and conclusions of 

law. The Moores had sued SOS and the Loves, asserting claims of nuisance in fact, nuisance per 

se, and violations of the Shoreline Management Act (SMA). 1 The Moores now argue that the 

trial court erred by (1) refusing to consider additional evidence after remand, (2) entering 

findings of fact unsupported by substantial evidence, (3) concluding that the Moores showed no 

nuisance in fact, (4) concluding that the Moores showed no nuisance per se, and (5) granting 

1 Chapter 90.58 RCW. 
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No. 41557-7-II 
Consolidated with No. 44377-5-II

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