RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON May 01, 2014, 3:54 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

E CPF
RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

No. 90115-5 (Court of Appeals No. 41557-7-II)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HAL MOORE and MELANIE MOORE; and LESTER KRUEGER and BETTY KRUEGER,

Respondents/Cross-Petitioners,

v.

STEVE'S OUTBOARD SERVICE, and STEVEN LOVE and MARY LOU LOVE,

Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION

Dennis D. Reynolds DENNIS D. REYNOLDS LAW OFFICE 200 Winslow Way West, Suite 380 Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-6777 Phone (206) 780-6865 Fax

Counsel for Respondents/Cross-Petitioners

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

Next, Petitioners allege that even if there was a violation of the SMA, (Pet. at pp. 3-6), no "injury" occurred and thus, there can be no nuisance per se. As an initial matter, Petitioners are wrong in asserting that showing of "damages" or "injury" is required to support a claim of nuisance. The statutory definition of nuisance is clear:

8

⁵ As the *Haines* court stated, "There is no doubt that the acts which respondents are alleged to be committing are lawful on every other day except Sunday. Appellants themselves engage in the same business on every other day except Sunday, and therefore the acts complained of are not acts which constitute a nuisance at all times and under all conditions, thus failing of one of the most important elements of a nuisance per se." Moreover, there was no allegation that the selling of cars on Sunday interfered with the use and enjoyment of the plaintiffs' property in that case. They had simply alleged it was a nuisance because it broke the law. This is distinguishable from the specific, negative impact of the engine shop operations on the Kruegers and Moores.

Nuisance consists in unlawfully doing an act, or omitting to perform a duty, which act or omission either *annoys*, injures or endangers the comfort, repose, health or safety of others, offends decency . . .; or in any way renders other persons insecure in life, or in the use of property.

RCW 7.48.120 (emphasis added).

Moreover, the trial court affirmatively ruled that SOS's operations impacted the plaintiffs' land and interfered with the use and enjoyment of their land to *some degree*. Opinion at p. 22 (emphasis added). This finding supports a determination under the law of a nuisance per se claim. *Tiegs*, 83 Wn. App. at 418 (establishing any interference with a plaintiff's use and enjoyment of property caused by acts violating a law satisfies nuisance per se, regardless of the interference's reasonableness); *Motor Car Dealers*, 128 Wash. at 273-74 (rejecting nuisance per se claim because there were no negative impacts to the plaintiffs use and enjoyment of property whatsoever).

Petitioners would have the Court ignore the foundational purposes and policy of the Shoreline Management Act, and construe the Act as a mere formality that can be "excused" by a local municipality.⁷ The SMA

⁶ See N.4, infra.

⁷ Mason County erred in failing to issue a SMA permit for the Petitioners' engine repair business, but that does not excuse the permitting requirements which exist to protect the fragile shoreline environment from degradation so that many will be able to enjoy the waters of the state for years to come. See, e.g., Tiegs v. Watts, 135 Wn.2d at 14 (that government ignores a nuisance is not a defense).

has been construed as recognizing statewide interests over local and requiring preservation and protection of the natural character of the shoreline, particularly with respect to waters of statewide significance (such as Hood Canal). Samson v. City of Bainbridge Island, 149 Wn. App. 33, 39-40, 202 P.3d 334 (2009). The SMA calls for "coordinated planning ... recognizing and protecting private property rights consistent with the public interest." RCW 90.58.020; Nisqually Delta Ass'n v. City of DuPont, 103 Wn.2d 720, 726, 696 P.2d 1222 (1985). The SMA is intended to protect citizens from undue impacts or uncoordinated planning; violation of the SMA by itself endangers the Moore/Krueger comfort, repose, health or safety. See RCW 90.58.020.

Because Petitioners failed to go through the shoreline permitting process, Moore/Krueger and other interested persons were denied the opportunity to participate in the public process, which is foundational to the SMA. See Department of Ecology v. City of Spokane Valley, 167 Wn. App. 952, 962-63, 275 P.3d 367 (2012) ("The permit application process provides several steps in an effort to assure the "coordinated planning... necessary in order to protect the public interest associated with the shorelines of the state while, at the same time, recognizing and protecting private property rights consistent with the public interest, "another stated policy of the SMA. RCW 90.58.020"). In this case, mitigation measures

were never considered to minimize the impacts of Petitioners' disruptive business on the residential waterfront area.

Failure to obtain a required shoreline permit is "not permissible or excusable under any circumstances," and hence never lawful. *State ex rel. Bradford v. Stubblefield*, 36 Wn.2d 664, 671, 220 P.2d 305 (1950); *see also State v. Boren*, 42 Wn.2d 155, 163, 253 P.2d 939 (1953). Without compliance with shoreline permit requirements, the goals and objectives of the SMA, including the public's general rights and personal property rights protected by shoreline permit review and planning processes are severely compromised:

The permit application process provides several steps in an effort to assure the "coordinated planning . . . necessary in order to protect the public interest associated with the shorelines of the state while, at the same time, recognizing and protecting private property rights consistent with the public interest, "another stated policy of the SMA. RCW 90.58.020. Not only must the permit applicant seeking a shoreline substantial development permit demonstrate that its proposal is consistent with the local master program and the SMA, but public input into that determination is provided through (1) public notice of the application, (2) an opportunity for members of the public to comment and receive notice of a final decision, and (3) the public's opportunity to participate in any hearing held on an application and to appeal the permit decision to the shorelines hearings board before construction may proceed. RCW 90.58.140(4), (7); RCW

90.58.180(1), (2); Buechel v. Dep't of Ecology, 125 Wn.2d 196, 205, 884 P.2d 910 (1994).

City of Spokane Valley, 167 Wn. App. at 963-64. Petitioners cite no authority for the proposition that failure to obtain a shoreline permit is ever permissible or excusable under any circumstance in the State of Washington; none exists.

The trial court found that Moore/Krueger was impacted by the unpermitted activities of the defendants. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that a balance of the "reasonableness" of the engine repair shop which operates without shoreline permits, is not required to determine whether they are liable for nuisance *per se*. Where the business violates the clear purpose and policies of the SMA, it cannot be determined to be "permissible or excusable" under any circumstance. *Tiegs*, 83 Wn.App. at 418.

3. The Court of Appeals Decision Correctly Determined Plaintiffs' Claims are not TimeBarred

Petitioners' argument that the Supreme Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals should have ruled the nuisance claims were time-barred is not based on any of the four considerations for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Rather, SOS resurrects the same arguments that the Court of Appeals considered and dismissed – that that a low-level decision

of Mason County dismissing a citizen complaint should be deemed to rise to the level of an affirmative decision granting permission for the engine repair shop to operate within the shoreline environment without any other permits other than a building permit. Petitioners do not allege that this ruling is in conflict with any rulings of the Supreme Court, nor any other Court of Appeals decision. RAP 13.4(b). Thus, review of this issue should be denied.

However, answering the allegations in the Petition, the Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the nuisance claims were not time-barred under LUPA⁸:

[T]he Case Activity Listing ... does not constitute a land use decision as defined by LUPA, because Mason County was not determining whether SOS could legally continue to operate on Loves' property without further permits. Rather, it was summarily dismissing a complaint for lack of evidence.

Second, even if we assume that the Mason County Case Activity Listing constituted a final land use decision regarding whether SOS is a cottage industry, this decision did not impact the Moores' claim – whether SOS is operating without a shoreline conditional use permit. Mason County requires cottage industries to obtain conditional use permits, and thus whether SOS is a "cottage industry" does not resolve

-

⁸ Petitioners did not argue laches below. Thus, the issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); *Roberson v. Perez*, 156 Wn.2d 33, 39, 123 P.3d 844 (2005).

the legality of the Loves' commercial use of their property for SOS.

Opinion at p.14 (citations and footnote omitted).

Petitioners' challenge to this ruling is not based on any contradictory case law or other authority. There is no reported decision in which a court has ever ruled that a municipality's decision not to take code enforcement action constitutes a "land use approval." Thus, Plaintiffs could not have been required to file a Land Use Petition Act appeal. *See Grundy v. Thurston County*, 155 Wn.2d 1, 5, 7-8, 117 P.3d 1089 (2005) (reversing dismissal of nuisance claim where plaintiffs did not file LUPA appeal of shoreline decision).

In addition, Petitioners cite no case law, nor any other authority to support their argument that "no permit is needed to operate a business." Pet. at p.8. The Court of Appeals examined Mason County Code requirements that state a cottage industry must obtain a shoreline conditional use permit. Opinion at p.14 (citing MCC § 17.03.021; MCC § 17.50.040; MCC § 17.03.021(6)). Because no permit was ever requested or obtained, the County could not have "approved" operation of

⁹ The County never made a "final decision" concerning shoreline permitting for the engine repair shop. An application for a shoreline permit is a Type III (quasi-judicial) process. Mason County Code ("MCC") § 15.03.015(c)(3)(C); MCC § 15.03.030(10). Any final decision must set forth procedures for administrative appeal. MCC § 15.07.050. Because a shorelines decision to approve or deny a permit was not made, there was no appeal period for any "discretionary decision" that SOS surmised might have been made by the County to grant an exception.

the business as a cottage industry. Opinion at p.20. Moreover, a shoreline conditional use permit cannot be issued by a municipality without approval from the Department of Ecology. RCW 90.58.140(10). Ecology conducts substantive review on conditional use permits and variances to check for compliance with the policies and procedural requirements of the local SMP. *Id.* Moreover, Ecology is the repository of all locally approved and denied shoreline permits for the entire state. RCW 90.58.140(6). No land use decision was ever issued to trigger the 21-day time period for filing a LUPA decision. Opinion at p.20.

4. The Court of Appeals Correctly Reduced the Attorneys Fee Award and Denied Fees on Appeal

Petitioners' arguments that the Supreme Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals allegedly erred in reducing the attorney fee award and/or erroneously denied attorneys fees on appeal also are not based on any of the four considerations for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). There is no basis for the Supreme Court to accept review because the Opinion is not inconsistent with any controlling law. In fact, the Petition does not include a single legal citation to support SOS's arguments. Pet. at pp.9-11.

With respect to the Court of Appeals' denial of attorney fees on appeal, Petitioners merely assert that Moore/Krueger did, in fact, appeal

Opinion, which cites RCW 90.58.230 and *Juanita Bay Valley Cmty. Ass'n* v. City of Kirkland, 9 Wn. App. 59, 86-87, 510 P.2d 1140 (1973) (SMA does not authorize attorneys fees to a plaintiff that did not prevail on his SMA claim, even though he prevailed on a related claim in the same case). Opinion at p. 29. Petitioners' unsupported argument does not rise to the level of warranting Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b).

Petitioners also recycle their argument concerning "inextricably intertwined" with respect to the Court of Appeals decision to exclude from an attorneys fee award those fees associated with a district court criminal case. The Opinion stated:

It is well settled that courts may decline to segregate fees for unsuccessful *claims* when such *claims* are too intertwined to reasonably separate. However, no authority states that courts may combine the fees for *separate cases* in *separate courts* on this basis.

Opinion at p.28 (emphasis in original; citation omitted).

Petitioners believe that this ruling is in error, but they do not cite any case law with which the Opinion is inconsistent that would warrant the Supreme Court accepting review.

There is no dispute that Petitioners did not segregate amounts for attorney time spent responding to a citation issued by the Department of Fish and Wildlife for a dock extension. The citation was issued by the

State, based on different facts and legal theories, and not an issue in the nuisance lawsuit. The Court of Appeals determined that Petitioners failed to show why it would be impossible to segregate the two unrelated matters. Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424, 435 (1983) (segregation required for different claims based upon different facts and legal theories). The Appeal Court correctly determined that fees billed for the WDFW citation should have been separated from those incurred defending the nuisance claims. Kastanis v. Educational Employees Credit Union, 122 Wn.2d 483, 501-02 859 P.2d 26 (1994) (reversing fee award where trial court made no finding that successful and unsuccessful claims were inseparable).

B. Cross-Petition on Attorney Fees Ruling of the Court of Appeals

If the Supreme Court decides to accept review of Petitioners' appeal, Moore/Krueger submitted this Cross-Petition concerning the Opinion of the Court of Appeals concerning attorneys' fees, and the Court's decision denying the motion for reconsideration.

The Court of Appeal reversed the award of attorney fees, but it is not clear that the award was reversed in its entirely. If not, in the exercise of caution, this cross-petition is submitted. Any award of attorney fees on remand must be limited to those incurred defending an SMA "damages

claim," as the law does not provide for attorney fees in the context of a nuisance claim. *See infra*, pp.19. In addition, the purpose of the law is to award attorney fees and costs in the context of a legal action addressing damage to shoreline habitat, which is not the context of this matter.

The nuisance *per se* claim is still open and not resolved.

Appellants have no standing to, and did not, bring an SMA claim for injunctive relief. Opinion at p.25. If, on remand, Moore/Krueger prevails on a nuisance *per se* claim in the new trial by establishing SOS is in violation of the SMA, the fee award to SOS should be vacated in its entirety since Krueger/Moore did not present any claim of damages at trial.

RCW 90.58.230 provides that the court may, in its discretion, order an attorneys' fee award only as follows:

Any person subject to the regulatory program of this chapter who violates any provision of this chapter or permit issued pursuant thereto shall be liable for all damage to public or private property arising from such violation, including the cost of restoring the affected area to its condition prior to violation.

(Emphasis added). The thrust of the law is damages caused to the shoreline environment or aquatic habitat, which is not an issue in this

appeal; the concern of Moore/Krueger is to prevent interference with the normal use of their property.

The Supreme Court should accept review of this portion of the Opinion if in its discretion the petition is granted. It should rule that, consistent with controlling law, an award of attorneys' fees pursuant to RCW 90.58.230 on remand would be abuse of discretion because a prevailing party is not entitled to fees for defending a nuisance claim and/or a request for an injunction. See Moreman v. Butcher, 126 Wn.2d 36, 40, 891 P.2d 725 (1995) (abuse of discretion when award is based on untenable grounds or reasons); State v. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003) (a decision is based "on untenable grounds" or made "for untenable reasons" if it rests on facts unsupported in the record or was reached by applying the wrong legal standard). Neither RCW Ch. 7.40 (Injunctions) nor RCW Ch. 7.48 (Nuisances) allow for recovery of attorneys fees by a prevailing party. Only to the extent Petitioners prevail on remand and can establish proof to support an award of fees incurred in defending the alleged SMA "damages claim" may any such award be justified. See King County v. Squire Inv. Co., 59 Wn. App. 888, 897, 801 P.2d 1022, (1990); see also RCW 90.58.230.

VI. CONCLUSION

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